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Friday, January 29, 2007


--- Upon commencing at 9:33 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  


The Board is sitting this morning in connection with an application filed by the Ontario Power Authority on November 1st requesting approval of its proposed 2007 expenditure and revenue requirement and fees, pursuant to section 25.2 of the Electricity Act.  


That application requested amongst other things approval of the usage fee of 37.2 cents per megawatt hour.  A proposed 2007 revenue requirement slightly in excess of $57 million, a proposed 2007 capital expenditure of approximately $2.9 million.  


The application initially also requested the approval of interim fees and on December 14th this Board issued an interim rate order sufficient to recover a revenue requirement of 57.023 million effective January 1st, 2007, pending a final decision in this proceeding at which time a final revenue requirement, fees based on that final revenue requirement would be determined and applied retroactively from January 1st, 2007.  


The Board subsequently received on January 22nd a settlement proposal and on January 23rd issued a procedural order setting that matter down for today.  


May we have the appearances, please.  


APPEARANCES: 


MR. CASS:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Fred Cass for the Ontario Power Authority.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass.  


MR. POCH:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  David Poch on behalf of Green Energy Coalition.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Poch.


MR. ALEXANDER:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Basil Alexander for Pollution Probe.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Alexander.


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, Consumers Council of Canada.  


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Girvan. 


MR. BUONOGURO:  Michael Buonoguro on behalf of the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MS. LANDYMORE: Heather Landymore, counsel to APPrO.  


MS. ERZETIC:  Josie Erzetic, counsel to Ontario Power Generation.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Richard Stephenson I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Tom Adams on behalf of Energy Probe. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Adams.  


MS. SEBALJ:  Kristi Sebalj, Board Counsel.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Cass.  

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, what I had proposed to do, if the Board sees fit, is to give an overview of the settlement proposal that has been filed with the Board.  I would be in the Board's hands if the Board would prefer to go directly to its questions of course that is quite acceptable as well. 


MR. KAISER:  I think an overview would be helpful. 


MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.  


PRESENTATION OF SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL 


BY ONTARIO POWER AUTHORITY:


MR. CASS:  As the Board would be aware, the settlement proposal that has been filed in this case follows the issues list.  On the issues list there were essentially six categories of issues, if I could describe them that way.  The first five categories match up with the OPA's five strategic objectives for 2007.  The sixth category then captures some general issues.  


Of these six main issue areas, there are four that are fully settled.  These would be the issues captured under general issue 2 with respect to the power system planning budget; issue 3, with respect to the procurement and contracting operating budget; issue 5, with respect to the building organizational capacity operating budget; and issue 6 with respect to general matters.  


Those are the four areas that are fully settled.  This leaves two issue areas that are not fully settled.  


One of those is under general issue 4, the sector development operating budget.  In this area, there is a settlement agreed to by all parties but one and I will come back to that.  The other remaining area is issue 1, where there is not a settlement but intervenors -- there is not a full settlement, but intervenors have scoped for the Board the issues they will be taking to hearing.  


Now, I will come back, if I may, to address in a little more detail first the four areas where the issues are fully settled.
 With respect to main issues 2 and 3, these are addressed at pages 8 and 9 of the settlement proposal.  Essentially what has happened in both of these two areas is that the parties have reached agreement on all sub-issues under main issues 2 and 3 on the basis that the OPA will fulfil certain commitments.  There are two of those commitments under issue 2 and there is one commitment under issue 3.  I won't read those.  I think they are self-explanatory and of course if there are any questions, they can be addressed later.  


Then the next area that is fully settled is under main issue 5, that starts at page 11 of the settlement proposal and carries over to page 13.  


Again, what has happened with respect to issue 5 is that the parties have settled all of the sub-issues under main issue 5 on the basis of certain commitments by the OPA.  


Now, in this case of main issue 5, there are a number of commitments.  I won't read them all out.  The Board will see that one of the commitments is that the OPA will reduce the contingency included in its 2007 operating budget by $800,000.  Then there are other commitments that relate to matters like external consulting and legal costs, compensation practices and so on, which again I won't read out.  


But in terms of the revenue requirement impact, the outcome of full settlement of issue five is, just standing alone this issue, a reduction of revenue requirement by $800,000.  


Then the final area where there is a full settlement is in respect of the general issues under category 6.  The complete settlement of main issue 6 is described on page 14.  Again, all of the sub-issues under main issue 6 have been settled on the basis that the OPA has made certain commitments.  


Now, in respect of the first of these, the Board would be aware, from an updated filing, that the OPA has a shortfall from its 2006 revenue requirement.  That is described at Exhibit D, tab 3, schedule 5.  


The final amount of the shortfall will not be -- is not known yet with precision.  The current estimate of the shortfall from 2006 is roughly $1.6 million.  


Now, under issue 6, how the parties have agreed to deal with this is that one-half of the current estimate of the 2006 shortfall would be added to an account that the OPA has proposed in its evidence called the 2007 forecast variance deferral account and that, then, will be recorded in that account for disposition in 2008, in the 2008 revenue requirement submission.  


The other one-half of the current estimate of the 2006 shortfall would be added to the OPA's 2007 revenue requirement, so that also is a sum of $800,000.  


Now, there is just a couple of follow-up items on that that I should clarify.  First, in respect of the overall revenue requirement, the effect of putting together this settlement with the settlement I described under issue 5 is that there is no net impact of all of the fully settled issues on the revenue requirement.  So if the Board were to accept the settlement on the fully settled issues the revenue requirement would not change.  There would be no need to change the fee that has been set on an interim basis.  


The other aspect of this issue of the shortfall from 2006 is, as I said, the final precise amount is not yet known.  So when that amount is known, any difference between that final amount and the figure of $1.6 million which is the current estimate, would also be recorded in that 2007 forecast variance deferral account for disposition in the 2008 revenue requirement case.


So that, in an overview fashion, is the effect of the four fully settled main issues, as set out in the settlement proposal.  Overall, if approved, there would be no net revenue requirement change and no change to the interim fee.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Cass, before you leave the fully settled issues, I notice that the first statement under the complete settlement header, the statement is there is agreement to settle issue 2.  It doesn't describe how.  


So I would take it from reading this document, is settle issue 2 as proposed by the OPA.  Is that fair?


MR. CASS:  Yes, I think that is fair.  In other words, there are no issues with the proposal in the OPA's filing, subject to the fulfilment of the commitments described in the settlement proposal under that issue, yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  I thought it would be helpful to have those words in the document.


MR. CASS:  Yes, that is a good point, Mr. Vlahos.  That would be wording of greater clarity.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  While you are on that page, Mr. Cass, what does paragraph 2 mean on page 14?  This is the undertaking with respect to stakeholder funding.


MR. CASS:  The intent, Mr. Chair, is to address a concern that the approach to stakeholder funding would not otherwise be taking into account the effort that stakeholders need to put into their work to provide meaningful input.  So the intent was to make clear for stakeholders that the approach to funding will take into account the level of effort and that the two specific areas of concern, as you will see, are in relation to preparation time and the length and complexity of documents that stakeholders have to review in order to provide their input.  


Again, the point is particularly in these areas, but also generally, that in its approach to stakeholder funding, the OPA is going to give consideration to the amount of effort that stakeholders have to put in to provide meaningful input.


MR. KAISER:  Is that something different from what you are already doing?


MR. CASS:  That presumably would be a point of argument if the issue went to hearing, Mr. Chair.  I think that some parties would -- if the issue had not been settled, would be suggesting to you that that was not already being done.  The OPA, I think, would be saying the reverse and the issue would go to hearing.  


In this context, it's been settled on the basis that the OPA has clarified that that is its intent in its approach to stakeholder funding.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


FURTHER PRESENTATION OF SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL:


MR. CASS:  Now, in terms of the issues that are not fully settled, Mr. Chair, perhaps I could take the Board back to main issue 4, which is addressed at paragraph ‑‑ sorry, at page 10 of the settlement proposal.


Issue 4 relates to the OPA's strategic objective number 4, which, as the Board would be aware, relates to some sector development initiatives proposed by the OPA.  There are two paragraphs describing ‑‑ two numbered paragraphs describing the outcome of the settlement conference addressing the OPA's strategic objective number 4.


Essentially, there was a desire to have clarity that in the sector development initiatives, the OPA's efforts would not be inconsistent with the goals set out in the directives.  That is indicated in numbered paragraph 1 of the settlement of issue 4.  All parties agree to numbered paragraph 1.  


As well, there is numbered paragraph 2 of the same settlement, which expand upon paragraph 1 to address a phase‑out - I am just quoting the words from paragraph number 2, - a phase-out of reliance on coal‑fired generation.


The intent of these words, in numbered paragraph 2, was to pick up on the Minister's directive of June 13th, 2006.  That directive is in the record at Exhibit A, tab 10, schedule 2, page 38, and the full words that are echoed in the settlement proposal, the full words are:   

"Plan for coal‑fired generation in Ontario to be replaced by cleaner sources in the earliest practical time frame that ensures adequate generating capacity and electricity system reliability in Ontario."  


The intent of numbered paragraph 2 was to essentially mirror the words of that directive.


In respect of numbered paragraph 2, all parties either agree with the issue or take no position, except for the Power Workers' Union, which disagrees with the wording of numbered paragraph 2.


Then that leaves, in terms of the overall settlement proposal, main issue number 1.  I don't intend to discuss that in any detail.  That is not a settled issue.


Parties who propose to address matters at the hearing have put forward wording to scope the areas that they intend to pursue for the Board.  As the settlement proposal indicates all other aspects of issue 1 have been resolved, so there are the four scoped areas that, at the hearing, parties intend to pursue with respect to strategic objective number 1.


MR. KAISER:  Do you dispute the scoping?


MR. CASS:  We don't dispute the scoping.  No, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  I don't want there to be any misunderstanding.  There may well be issues about whether any or all of these are appropriate matters to be addressed in this case.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  That's my overview of the settlement proposal.  I am sure any other party can correct me anywhere that I have misstated anything.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Sebalj, how do you want to proceed?


MS. SEBALJ:  I had a few clarifying questions.  I am not sure whether the Panel wanted to ask questions, any additional questions, first?  Panel?


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. KAISER:  All right.  We will go first.  Mr. Rupert.


MR. RUPERT:  A couple of questions on issue number 4, Mr. Cass.


Do I take it that if the PWU had not disagreed with item 2, that there would be a complete settlement?  Is that what I am to read from this?


MR. CASS:  Yes, sir.


MS. ERZETIC:  Mr. Chair, if I may, it's Josie Erzetic, counsel for OPG.  I just want to interject at this time.  At the time of the discussions around the settlement, my colleague, Mr. Barr, was attending this settlement and OPG did not take a position.  


Having seen the actual wording of the settlement agreement, we support the PWU's position in that we also have a difficulty with subparagraph 2.  So I just want to get that on the record at this time.  


I was waiting for the opportunity for counsel to speak, but given that Mr. Rupert was asking that clarifying question, I just wanted to interject.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MS. LANDYMORE:  Sorry, Mr. Chair, can I also make one comment?  Although APPrO continues to take no position on this issue, APPrO is sympathetic to...

     MS. SEBALJ:  Ms. Landymore, I'm not sure your is mike on.  Sorry. 


MS. LANDYMORE:  Shall I start again?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, could you?


MS. LANDYMORE:  I just wanted to add that although APPrO continues to take no position on this issue, APPrO is sympathetic to OPG's and PWU's position and understands that the development of market mechanisms by the OPA would be undertaken in compliance with the ministerial directives.


MR. KAISER:  What does "sympathetic" mean?  


MS. LANDYMORE:  It means that APPrO is a large organization and has many members, and although we are not able to take a position, we did want to indicate that we are sympathetic.


MR. KAISER:  If you could take a position, you would take a position supporting the Power Workers' Union?  


MS. LANDYMORE:  Those weren't my words, but....


MR. KAISER:  All right.  


MR. RUPERT:  I have a question on number 6, also, Mr. Cass, the general category.  


My question goes to something which is not mentioned in here.  Let me just describe what I am referring to.  


In 2005, the annual report, audited financial statements of OPA, showed there was a $5.79 million deficit for that first year of operations.  OPA subsequently in 2006 or as part of its 2006 revenue requirement filing asked for and I guess was subsequently approved $6.89 million to cover amounts paid to the government in respect of RFPs in 2005.  


So if I include those two numbers together it strikes me - subject to your confirmation - that the OPA in fact, in substance, ran a surplus in 2005, about $1.1 million.  That is the reported $5.79 million deficit, which was later more than covered by getting $6.8 million in 2006.  


So my question relates to discretion of surpluses and deficits; and A, whether I am correct in my analysis that there is in fact in substance a surplus in 2005 and, if so, why would that not be considered in the settlement of this 2006 deficit question?  


MR. CASS:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rupert.  You are stretching my memory.  I was involved in the 2006 revenue requirement case, so I would at that time have had some familiarity with the 2005 numbers.  But you have gone past the ability of my memory.  


Let me just see, if you give me a moment, if we can help you on your question.  


MR. RUPERT:  Sure.  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Rupert, Mr. Lyle and I have the same recollection, but again the caveat would be that we are only going by memory, and it might be better if we were to take this away and perhaps subsequently provide the information to the Board.  


Our joint recollection is that the -- within the context of the 2006 revenue requirement filing, that these numbers were taken into account.  Beyond that, again, perhaps we could take the question away and give you a better answer to it?  


MR. RUPERT:  Sure.  Another way of phrasing the question is this, I guess to the same point:  Assuming that your preliminary numbers for 2006 are, in fact, the final numbers which show this deficit for the year of $1.6 million, is the OPA saying then, that in its financial statements for 2006 it will show an accumulated deficit from the beginning of operations on January 1st, 2005 up to end of 2006, the accumulated deficit for all periods will be 1.6 million?  


MR. CASS:  That is certainly my understanding.  Again, 1.6 million being the current estimate.  I don't know that it is expected to change in any material fashion, but that is the current estimate.  


MR. RUPERT:  My question, just to be clear, is the cumulative for two years, is that the cumulative deficit of the organization?  Or is $1.6 million simply the deficit in respect of 2006 for 12 months; so if you could look at that question as well.  


MR. CASS:  Yes, yes.  


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  I think the rest of my questions relate to issue 1, which I won't raise right now.  


MR. VLAHOS:  My questions are also on number 1, but I just want to make sure I understand Mr. Cass.  On the issue of 4, the second -- the number 2 paragraph, OPA is not opposed to the matter coming to the hearing.  Am I clear on that?  I am not sure what I heard.  What is the settlement on this issue?  Is this going to be an issue for the hearing, or not?  


MR. CASS:  Apparently it is, in some fashion, Mr. Vlahos, an issue for the hearing.  Because the second paragraph has not been fully settled.  In what form that issue will be addressed at the hearing, I am not sure myself.  Perhaps it will be just a matter of argument by the parties who have contrary positions on this.  But it was not possible to achieve a full settlement on numbered paragraph 2 of this issue.  


Certain -- a party or certain parties were looking for that assurance and not all parties were prepared to agree to that assurance.  The OPA itself did not - was able to agree to numbered paragraph 2, as you know.  It is a party to the settlement, but -- other parties, in particular Power Workers' Union and this morning we have heard OPG have a difficulty with it.  


Again, I am not totally sure what form this dispute will take when it actually comes to hearing. 


MR. VLAHOS:  That is why I am asking the question.  Where do we move from here?  Today is the day where we have to sort those things out.  Are other parties going to be speaking to it, is that the plan?  


MR. POCH:  Mr. Vlahos, if I may, I guess I am the principal sponsor of that language.  It would certainly facilitate my understanding of this if we could hear from the parties in dissent as to what they propose, whether this is an evidentiary matter or simply a matter for either preliminary motion or argument at the end.  As far as we are concerned, just to set this out if I may, you have obviously heard there is a difference of opinion as to what the OPA's job is.  


Our concern was particularly with respect to matters such as its LSE pilot in 2007, there was potential for it to be, for parts of the OPA to -- shall working at cross-purposes and that would not -- I want to be clear here.  The Board's role in this hearing is a very high-level supervisory role where you are trying to ensure that the OPA is functioning efficiently and you are not trying to get into the shoes that you will be later in the year when you are receiving the IPSP and we understand that.  


At a high level, we want to make sure that the branches of the OPA weren't working at cross-purposes here and at cross-purposes to their mandate, both strict legal mandate and the policy mandate they have been granted by the government.  There was obviously as you can surmise, some controversy about one aspect of this.  And that -- so we sought the comfort from the OPA that the interpretation we would like to see placed on matters is the one, in fact, that they are taking.  And they have given us that assurance in effect in paragraphs 1 and 2.  


Had they not, it would have been an issue, from our perspective.  Having received that assurance, it is not an issue from our perspective, and I am a little puzzled as to what possible issue there could be from my friends, unless they are disagreeing with the directives or what have you which is of course not a matter for you to determine.  So it would assist us, in preparing for this case, if we could have some elaboration at this time from them.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Maybe, Mr. Stephenson, can you help us as to how you see this thing flowing to the hearing if at all. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  I do, Mr. Vlahos.  


Frankly, I am prepared to deal with it today and either -- I don't see it -- it is not an evidentiary issue.  


From my perspective, my objection with the proposed settlement is that I don't think this is something that the Board, this Board should be getting into, in the sense of:  If the Board accepts this settlement, the settlement proposal becomes -- or the settlement, as accepted, becomes some form of a -- the Board's imprimatur is placed upon it, it becomes some kind of a Board order of some sort.  


The issue, from our perspective - and I can get into the, into it in more detail if you like but just by way of overview - is, we don't think this is an appropriate matter for the Board to be ruling on in the context of a rate hearing, which is in effect what this is.  


We think that, aside from anything else, that the Minister's directives and compliance with the Minister's directives are the Minister's prerogative.  It is not for this Board, by way of a rate hearing, to put in place some kind of an enforcement mechanism vis‑a‑vis the OPA's compliance or non‑compliance with Minister's directives.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stephenson, you are going to the substance of the thing?  I was more interested in the process.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Anyway, that is the gist of my argument and I can elaborate on it more, but, from my perspective I am prepared to deal with it today.  If the Board doesn't want to deal with it today, I am prepared to deal with it by way of argument at the end of the case.


I don't see it as a matter which is requiring evidence, however.


MR. KAISER:  So your position really is that whether the OPA complies with this statement, or not, has nothing to do with rates?


MR. STEPHENSON:  That is exactly right.  Even more broadly than that, this is a situation where each of the various parties that is responsible for governing the electricity sector has to be mindful of their role.  


It may well be that this is an appropriate matter, if people are all prepared to agree to it, that is fine, but not everybody agrees to it.  In my view, the Board shouldn't be ruling on it, because it is not your role and it is certainly not your role in a rates case.


MR. KAISER:  Anyone else.  Mr. Poch?


MR. POCH:  Just to clarify and not to engage in a debate, prolong the debate.  Our position is very simple.  The Board -- in this case, the Board's obligation is to make sure that the OPA is spending its money efficiently, getting the right amount to do the job and acting within its mandate.


This Board would not tolerate a request for rates or revenue charge to enable the OPA to go off on a frolic and do something it doesn't have any mandate to do or to act contrary to its mandate either in specific or general terms.  That is where the Board -- why the Board has authority to have this in a settlement agreement.  


We are simply here seeking an assurance from the OPA that it is staying within the proper bounds, and we are not asking the Board to get into an enquiry, either second guessing the appropriateness of the directives and we are not asking the Board ‑‑ we haven't sought an enforcement mechanism or anything of the sort.


We are simply seeking an assurance from the OPA here, a commitment to the Board that they are being respectful of the interpretation we are placing on those directives with which they apparently agree.  It is that simple.  


MR. KAISER:  Is there anything in this application, is there any proposed expenditure that underlies this application that relates to this issue that you can point us to?


MR. POCH:  Yes.  The OPA is proposing to spend money on a pilot in 2007, a load-serving entity pilot, and it was this that caused us concern, this is -- the potential for such entities, depending on the architecture.


MR. KAISER:  That is tied to the coal phase-out in some shape or form?


MR. POCH:  If those load-serving entities are set up in a fashion that they can go off and contract for coal power or long‑term commitments to coal‑fired power, either domestic or imported, then that would undermine the OPA's ability to ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Is that just plain speculation?  Is there anything in this evidence that says that if these load-serving ‑‑ if this expenditure on load-serving entities, the pilot I should say, is approved, that that is going to impact on the coal phase-out?  Is that just speculation?


MR. POCH:  One would assume -- coal is the cheapest marginal fuel.  One would assume, all else being equal, that you leave it to those folks that are going to go out and contract for the cheapest stuff, and they are going to lock it up for as long as they can and as much as they can.  That is just our assumption.


OPA spending money on designing such a program, facilitating such a program, creating a market venue, if you will, it seems to us is in a position to decide what the rules of that game are, and we want them to be cognizant of this rule.


MR. KAISER:  Your position would be, in the confines of a rate case, we agree they can spend money on this LSE pilot, providing it does not have any impact on the planned phase-out of coal facilities?


MR. POCH:  That is our position, yes, sir.


MR. KAISER:  So 1 and 2 are really related to that degree, in your view?


MR. POCH:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Anyone else have comments on this matter?


MS. ERZETIC:  Mr. Chairman, I would just like to say that we support Mr. Stephenson's comments and, as he is, I am happy to deal with this issue today, if that is the Board's wish, or I would be happy to come back and argue it at another time. 


Similarly, we wouldn't need to call any evidence.  I think it is just a matter of legal argument, quite frankly.


Our position, just in a nutshell, sir, is that the directive is the directive.  The Minister has issued that OPA is required by the regulation to comply with it.  We think it speaks for itself, and our position really is:  Why are we trying to restate a matter, quite frankly, that doesn't mirror it in subsection 2?  


And I guess my concern, also, is in hearing my friend Mr. Poch speak, he has indicated a number of times he wanted to ensure that his interpretation is the correct one, and that is where I particularly have a concern.


We are not here, in my submission, to talk about an interpretation of the directive.  I believe your own procedural order, your first procedural order, directly spoke to that.  We are here on a rates case.  We are not here to interpret a directive.  It is what it is.  


Our concern is substantially that we are trying to reframe it here.


MR. KAISER:  What about if he rephrases his position and says, I am not prepared to agree to these LSE pilots and the expenditure on them if they are going to do anything to deter the coal phase-out?  If he puts it in that narrow sense, do you have a position on that?


MS. ERZETIC:  Again, sir, I would just go back to, in my submission, I think the operative wording ‑‑ I will just turn to the directive.  The way they phrased it in the settlement agreement is that "coal phase-out at the earliest practicable time".


With respect, the way the directive is worded is that it ensures adequate generating capacity and electricity system reliability in Ontario.


I think that is a fundamental part of that directive.  So I don't think I would be satisfied if he just put it in terms of practicable time frame.  I think the adequacy and reliability aspect of that statement is fundamental.


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, I don't have any objection to that clause being added to paragraph 2, if that is all that is outstanding here.  I don't want to be obstructionist.  I thought that was a given, frankly, Mr. Chairman.  Otherwise, we could shut them today.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Chair, if I may.  Mr. Cass, could you help me?  Who is the proponent?  Is it a proponent for the first paragraph, or I cannot ask that question?


MR. CASS:  I am not sure if I can say that.  Perhaps I will leave the proponents to speak up.


MR. VLAHOS:  Why is it there in the first place?


MR. POCH:  Mr. Vlahos, I guess it is my role to speak to that.  Really, paragraph 1 is an introduction to paragraph 2, in essence, and it was my proposal.


It is the -- really the explanation for the -- in answer to the Chairman's question, obviously not a clear enough explanation on its face, of why our concern arises in this case.


MR. VLAHOS:  So it is one thought, one paragraph?


MR. POCH:  I think that was certainly our intention.  Obviously, when we get into putting our finger on the coal question, some of my friends get a little more concerned that we be careful with our wording.  As I say, I am happy to add that phrase, "while ensuring adequacy", and so on, to paragraph 2, if that is all that is missing.


MR. KAISER:  If you think of it in common-sense terms, if you agree, as you just have, to adding the phrase that counsel pointed you to, it doesn't become much of a condition.  I mean, you know, you can spend money on LSE pilots provided that, and you've got this condition which it will be very hard for anyone to say they have breached the condition.  They will just say, Well, we had to do it because of reliability or whatever.


I mean, is this becoming a bunch of semantics at the end of the day?  Do you think you are actual gaining anything by attaching that rider, as the Americans would call it, to the expenditure on LSE funding for pilots, pilot funding?


MR. POCH:  From our perspective, Mr. Chairman, I will be frank, we want to make sure that this is on the radar screen for the OPA that there is this potential conflict.  We have had -- to be frank, we have had discussions - they're on the public record - with the OPA in other fora about this problem, this potential clash between market mechanisms and the government policy directives, and that there has to be some balancing.  There has to be some crafting of these things so that they don't clash.


We believe, by this being enshrined here, there will be salutary effects, in the sense that OPA's senior management, its directors, will be aware that this is a concern.  It is a concern that's been expressed by some parties at least before this Board and the OPA has made a formal commitment to be cognizant of that concern.  It is not, I grant you, Mr. Chairman - you're absolutely right - this is not an enforceable contract that we are going to be able to take to court, nor would that be the remedy.  But we think there is value in having it and hence our wish for its inclusion.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Poch, is my understanding correct that the OPA is consulting on the LSE policy issue and can you -- do you know as to where that matter stands and whether GEC is active in that consultation?  


MR. POCH:  We are not party to any consultations on that.  I know the OPA, in general, has been trying to consult on most matters.  


I don't believe that there is any, yet, any consultation on this.  I imagine there may be.  Perhaps my friends can help us.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stephenson, what it suggests to me, in any event, is that insofar as there is anything that is relevant to this case, there is an expenditure item, apparently in here somewhere, that relates to these LSE pilots.  Your concern, to the extent -- or their concern to the extent that it has an expenditure link, is that those expenditures not do something to impact on the coal 

phase-out.  Am I wrong? 


MR. STEPHENSON:  My concerns are broader than that.  The first issue is this:  The prerogative over the Minister's directives is the Minister's.  And what is trying to be achieved here is to embed a particular directive into a Board order.  

The Minister has the prerogative, today or tomorrow, to change the directive.  Tomorrow, the Minister may say, for LSE pilot projects are exempt from the coal phase-out directive.  And then where is the Board at?  


The Board's endorsed yesterday's directive and embedded it in a Board order which is going to have a life for presumably a year, subject to I don't know what the particular mechanism for changing them are, in the circumstances where the Minister, who is the person that is responsible for determining these things, has made a different decision.  


What that comes back to is the point which I raised at the outset, which is:  At the end of the day this is all about where each of the various parties that is responsible for oversight of aspects of the electricity industry being mindful of each other's spheres of responsibility.  


The Minister has a responsibility.  The OPA has a responsibility.  And this Board has a responsibility.  And they are all -- there are points of overlap, but they are more or less separate.  


What this particular matter does, in my view, is, it seeks to go into an area that is really not the Board's responsibility.  


Either this provision of this settlement agreement adds something to the directive or it doesn't.  If it doesn't add anything to the directive from the perspective of governing how the OPA is to undertake its responsibilities, if it doesn't add anything, then it is just surplusage and why is it there?  


If it does add something to the directive, in terms of how the OPA is undertaking its responsibility, then why is it in there?  Because who is it for this Board - with all due respect - to be telling the OPA to be doing something different in a matter which the directive is speaking to than the directive itself says?  


So my concern is not the presence or absence of a direct linkage to an expenditure item.  My concern is:  Who is the entity that should be regulating, overseeing this particular activity?  


In my submission, the answer to that question is, it is the Minister and the OPA and it is not the OEB.  As I say, for two reasons that are really just illustrative reasons.  Number 1, obviously the directive could change tomorrow; and secondly, either this is adding something to the directive or it is not.  And in either case, it really shouldn't be there.  


MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose we leave the directive aside.  Suppose we accept your argument on that for the moment.  And they change their position, forget paragraph 2.  Paragraph 1 simply said:  We accept the proposed expenditure on LSE pilots provided nothing in that does anything to promote coal-fired generation.  Let's suppose they got down to a principle and nothing to do with the directive.  You would oppose that, I suppose, if that was the condition?  

MR. STEPHENSON:  I would oppose that, because if there was no directive regarding coal-fired power, in my submission, this would be something that would be entirely inappropriate for the Board to be dealing with.  


MR. KAISER:  You would say that condition is really up to the government.  There is a directive on that.  The Board shouldn't be mucking around with those kinds of conditions, policy-related conditions. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Exactly.  I mean, I agree that it is highly unlikely.  But it is at least theoretically possible that the Minister could put out a directive tomorrow saying:  Increasing coal-fired power is the primary objective.  He has that authority.  He has that absolute authority.  


As I say, where would that put this Board, then?  


MR. KAISER:  I presume there is no evidence here that OPA is not going to comply with government directives.  


MR. CASS:  That's correct, sir.  


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, if I may respond to that concern of yours.  First of all, let me say we don't simply rely on the directives we also rely on section 25.2, sub 1, sub D which is the objectives of the OPA, including to engage in activities to facilitate the diversity, 

diversification of sources of electricity supplied by promoting the use of cleaner energy sources and technology, et cetera.  


So quite apart from directives, the OPA's objects are clear in that regard, and I think the OEB's objects are clear in terms of its facilitation of energy efficiency and so on.   

    In answer to the underlying question that you posed, Mr. Chairman, what are we after here?  You are absolutely right.  We don't want them doing anything that is increasing reliance on coal, whether there is a directive, of course.  I should say, in response to my friend.  His point that the directives might change is true of everything in this case.  The whole budget of the OPA here is responsive to its tasks as set out in the directives thus far.  We don't have a procurement plan yet.  They're a creature of the directives.  


And the directives could change which could change the appropriateness of many aspects of the budget that is before you.  The Board can only deal with what is in front of it and what it has at this time.  Obviously things can change.  


So I am not sure that that point is particular to this 

aspect of the case.  It is true of all aspects of the case.  I will stop there, I think.  I am going to repeat myself. 


MR. KAISER:  Maybe we will come back to this.  It's been a useful discussion.  I think if we are going to have argument on it, I think you might all benefit from some of the questions that have come from the panel and hear other counsel.  I think it is a fairly complex point, I think.  I mean it goes to the jurisdictional issue, I think, that we have to consider, Mr. Stephenson's submissions as to whether we should be putting into any order or making any decision giving an opinion on some government directive.  


That is the different, though, than if you attached a condition and said, We approve it provided it doesn't do this, that or the other thing.  Then you have the subsequent argument about whether we should even be getting into that.  


MR. POCH:  To be clear, Mr. Chairman, it is really the latter that underlies our concern.  


MR. KAISER:  This is your issue, I take it?  


MR. POCH:  It is shared by others.  I am put in the lead, lead place on this one.  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, if I might speak up at this point.  I have been trying to remain quiet so as not to escalate this debate any further than it needs to go.  


However, I think I should just speak up to be sure that there is clarity on one point.  During the submissions you have been hearing, there has been reference to a number of things, including statements made about the relationship between the LSE initiative and the coal phase-out.


I just wanted it to be perfectly clear that what was proposed by the proponents of this issue and what the OPA was able to agree to is reflected in the document.  It does not follow that the OPA agrees with all of the statements you have been hearing in these submissions.  


The agreement is what is reflected in the document, and I just thought I should emphasize that.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Alexander, you have a point?


MR. ALEXANDER:  Just to be clear, just to follow up Mr. Poch's comment in terms of other people's support, Pollution Probe is one of the people that supports, and we only took positions on position 1 and 4.  This is one of the ones we support, although Mr. Poch has been motivating the issue.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Cass, I believe you are ready to respond to the question of whether the OPA has a consultative process going on with respect to the LSE pilot and its time frame for that?



MR. CASS:  My understanding sitting here today, Mr. Vlahos, is that the OPA has commenced a preliminary consultation on that.


MR. KAISER:  How much money is in this budget relating to this LSE pilot?


MR. CASS:  I don't know it off the top of my head, Mr. Chair.  In the scheme of the overall budget, it is not big dollars.  We can get you the number.


Yes, Mr. Chair, at Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 1, page 11, there is a table 2 setting out initiatives within the strategic objective.  There is a particular line there for the LSE initiative.  The total shown is $453,350.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  All right, maybe we will caucus amongst ourselves and figure out what we are going to do with this issue.  Let's come back to it, Mr. Stephenson, if we can. 


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


We will turn on to issue number 1 next.  I take it, Mr. Cass, you are available to argue this matter today, as Mr. Stephenson suggests, if that is appropriate?


MR. CASS:  That would be to argue issue number 4?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, this LSE/coal issue.


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Mr. Chair.  If at all possible, if we are going to do something further on this issue, I need to get out of here by no later than 11:30 today.  So if you could let me know if there is going to be something further on this, presumably we will have a break and you can sort out a schedule.


MR. KAISER:  Well, we are on it now.  Are you ready to proceed, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  I don't think the OPA will have a lot to say on this particular issue.


MR. KAISER:  Very well.  What about you, Mr. Poch?  Are you ready to proceed?


MR. POCH:  I think it is just going to be a reordering of what you have already heard in concise form, so I think we could do it probably very quickly.


MR. KAISER:  Let's make it brief.  Do you want to start off, Mr. Stephenson?



SUBMISSIONS BY MR. STEPHENSON:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sure.  You're right, it is going to be something of a rehearing of what you have already heard.


My points really are this, is that this is a rate hearing or a revenue requirement hearing.


The OEB is one of a number of different entities that is responsible for governing different aspects of the electricity sector, and, in our submission, each of those entities must be respectful of the authority of the other entities.  And in this particular case, the entities that I am talking about are the OEB, the OPA and the Minister.


As you know, the OPA, of course, is ‑‑ it is not a regulated entity like some of the other regulated entities that you deal with.  They are not Union Gas.  They are themselves an independent government agency with their separate and distinct statutory mandate.


The fact that the Electricity Act gives the OEB responsibility for reviewing its fee applications is not a matter that allows you, in my submission, to deal with every aspect of what they do or all aspects of what the Minister does in relation to the OPA.


Now, in terms of the actual settlement proposal, if it were me, I would take the position that my argument applies to both subparagraph 1 and 2.  We only opposed 2 simply because we tried to be agreeable and limit our opposition to the things that we were really opposed to.  


But both 1 and 2 suffer from the same frailty, in my submission, and that is that they both trench on areas, with respect, that are really the prerogative of the Minister and the OPA.


The Minister makes the directives.  The OPA is bound to govern itself by those directives.  As I have said to you, the difference between sub 1 and sub 2 is that 1 talks about directives generically and 2 talks about a specific directive, and then incorporates part of the wording of that directive.  So it causes ‑‑ it gives rise to an additional problem.  


Sub 1 is directives as the directives exist from time to time, presumably, but sub 2 doesn't have that flexibility within it.  What it does is it isolates in time a particular directive as that directive stands today.


Of course, I say all of this on the assumption that the additional wording that is actually contained in the directive would be embodied in 2, if it continued to be in the settlement agreement.


Now, because it doesn't talk about the directive generically, it gives rise to this issue about, Well, what happens if the directive changes?  Then you have this whole problem where ‑‑ this is not, as my friend Mr. Poch suggests, like all of the other issues, in the sense that there is budgetary items designed to and support various activities that have been caused by directives from time to time.


This is that you are actually putting a directive in a Board order.  As I say to you, that causes the problem of what happens if, as and when the directive may change.


 Let me just say this, that you asked the question of the OPA:  Does the OPA follow the Minister's directives?  And the answer of course is of course.  Hardly a surprise, the answer is "yes".  So there is already a statutory obligation on the OPA to comply with the directives.


So what is it that is sought to be achieved here?  If the provision in this agreement is simply there to repeat the obligation that the OPA already has by virtue of its ‑‑ the statutory scheme, then, in my submission, it shouldn't be there, because it is just mere surplusage and it serves no practical purpose.


If it is there because it is intended to serve some other purpose - that is, that it is in addition to the obligations that the OPA already has by virtue of its obligations vis‑a‑vis the directives - then I ask the question:  Well, what is the additional obligation, and who is the OEB to be the one requiring them to comply with it?


This is a policy matter.  There may be some dollars attached to it, but it is, at the end of the day, a policy matter, and, again, if it is not simply duplicative, if there is something else there, it is not clear what it is.  But to the extent that there is something else there, my submission is it is not something that the OEB should be imposing.


It is one thing for the parties, in the context of a settlement agreement, to agree to things which might not otherwise be appropriately within the ambit of the Board's authority on a rates case, simply by way of quid pro quo of trading off one thing for another.  And if everybody agrees to it, there is no harm done, it seems to me, and it may well be an appropriate thing to do.  


But where it is not a matter where there is complete agreement, where there is opposition to a matter, the Board is required to exercise its jurisdiction and to place its imprimatur on whatever outcome it determines is appropriate.  In my submission it is not appropriate for the Board to place its binding authority to something which is, as I say, it is either duplicate on the one hand or it is adding something.  And if it is adding something, the Board shouldn't be in the business of adding something in this subject matter, or this area.  


Whether this is a jurisdictional issue in the strict sense, I can't say that with certainty here, in the sense that you cannot do this.  


What I will say to you is, I think there is a good arguable case that you cannot do this.  But even if you could do this, in my submission, you shouldn't do this, simply because you should be respectful, in a legal sense, of the authority of the other players and their legitimate governance roles over this entity.  


Those are my submissions.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  OPG.  


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. ERZETIC:


MS. ERZETIC:  Mr. Chairman, I would echo the submissions of my friend, Mr. Stephenson.  We are in support of those submissions.  


The only thing I would add, Mr. Chairman, is again to refer you to the first procedural order in this matter, which -- effectively I am just paraphrasing it here, but effectively the Board had indicated in the course of this proceeding it wouldn't go behind, if I can put it that way, or it said: 

"In particular, the Board is not prepared within this proceeding to review the policies or programs of the OPA that arise out of the provincial government directives."  

I wholeheartedly support Mr. Stephenson when he says that if all of these paragraphs do is just repeat the directives, then there is surplus.  The OPA is already required by the regulation, by the Act to comply with the directives.  


If they are doing something in addition to that, then I don't think that they're appropriate.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Poch.  


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. POCH:


MR. POCH:  I am grateful for my friend's last comment because I think now we are getting to the hub of it.  The Board isn't going to enquire into the nitty-gritty of programs – or, sorry, questioning the policies.  The Board's task here is to ensure that the OPA's functioning efficiently, and that the money it is spending is in furtherance of those policies and directives.  And not in conflict with them.  


There is no question, in my mind, and I would suggest there is no question in law, that the OPA could not be before you and asking for budget to engage in an activity which wasn't in pursuit, in compliance with its statutory mandate or the particular directives that have been given in compliance with that statutory mandate.  


That would be precisely the kind of thing that the Board would say:  No, you can't be funding trips to Florida.  You can't be funding road construction.  And you can't be funding conservation or supply undertakings which aren't within the mandate that the organization has been given by statute and regulation and directive.  


So we have directives.  They are fairly clear on their face.  We have the statute.  It is a lot broader -- and I won't read it again, but I refer to the objects of the OPA under section 25.2 of the Electricity Act which include promoting use of cleaner energy sources.  And it really is that that we are focussing on.  There's been a lot of talk about the directive.  It is a little narrower.  


The concern arose for GEC because of this LSE proposal.  The LSE proposal would enable, potentially enable participants in that mechanism to go out and contract for, for example, US coal.  The directive doesn't speak to US coal particularly.  It speaks to coal generation in Ontario.  


The Act does speak to cleaner generation.  We are asking the OPA, if they want to be able to pursue that program, seek money from this Board to administer that program, to engage in that pilot, we want some assurance they are going to be respectful of the Act.  


My friend, Mr. Stephenson says:  You have to be respectful of the other entities here, the OPA itself and the Minister.  


We agree.  That is what we are asking for.  We are asking -- we have asked for assurance from the OPA that they will be respectful of that aspect of the Act.  


And it is a matter of interpretation as to what that aspect of the Act means, in practical terms.  But they are asking for practical approval to go ahead with an actual pilot.  So you really don't have a choice but to get down to that level at some level to say -- to ask yourself, well, is what they are proposing within bounds, or not?  


The OPA has been good enough to provide us with wording to agree to wording which satisfies us.  If they honour that wording it will be within bounds.  


My friend, Mr. Stephenson says:  We, in effect what he is really saying is the Board has no right to ask for that assurance.  With respect, I disagree.  There is room, potentially room for the -- within the description of the project they are undertaking for them to stray outside the bounds.  


MR. KAISER:  Well, that's what I don't understand.  I would have thought 1 covered your concerns, which Mr. Stephenson agrees with.  All parties agree with 1, i.e.,any efforts in this regard will comply with the directives.  What is it that you want over and above that?  


MR. POCH:  The difficulty is the directives as opposed to the Act.  The directive only speaks about coal generation in Ontario.  And our concern is -- 


MR. KAISER:  It's the US coal issue?  


MR. POCH:  It’s the US coal.  We feel if what they are doing here is, you know, trying to phase out coal generation in Ontario and as part of that effort engaging in mechanisms which are just going to increase reliance on US coal, we have moved from the frying pan to the fire.  And that is not in keeping with general government policy and it is not in keeping, specifically, with the objects that the OPA is required to respect, the objects under the Electricity Act. 


MR. KAISER:  Then we come to a legal issue, because Mr. Stephenson says, Okay, we now know what the problem is.  His issue is the Board shouldn't be making a judgment about whether US coal is good or bad.  That is a policy matter, strictly within the ambit of the government.  They have already issued a directive that bears on that subject.  You want to leave it to them.  You shouldn't get involved in this.  What is your response to that?  


MR. POCH:  My response is the Board has a legal obligation to ensure itself that the money it is granting the OPA is money being spent on matters within the OPA's jurisdiction.  To do that, you have to come to some conclusion about what that jurisdiction is.  


The Act speaks of cleaner energy sources.  


MR. KAISER:  I am just trying to get your position.  So if we were to say we had a concern that these expenditures might promote the US, burning of US coal in Ontario, if we took that position, you would say that is within our jurisdiction to do that?  


MR. POCH:  Yes.  You are entitled to, indeed obliged to --


MR. KAISER:  That is because one of the objects of the OPA relates to conservation, et cetera. 


MR. POCH:  Correct, sir.  You have to come to at least some high-level appraisal as to whether or not the expenditures, as proposed, are in pursuit of those objects or potentially beyond those objects.  Here there was ambiguity, and the ambiguity is resolved with a simple undertaking by the OPA.  It ends that discussion.  I guess my -- the OPA is prepared to give that undertaking and presumably they have given that undertaking to us, whether or not it gets any imprimatur from the Board.  If my friend is concerned that the Board is somehow putting its imprimatur on this, I think that the Board is not only entitled to but, indeed, is obliged to come to some judgment as to what is in bounds and what is out bounds for the OPA.


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Poch, I just want to be clear.  Your concern is, to use the Chair's earlier words, speculative or at least a possibility that something might evolve from the pilot programs or LSE program that could, in your view, run afoul of one of the legislative objects?


MR. POCH:  Well, sir, it is more than speculation on our part.  If this were to go to hearing, I would bring before you a transcript of the discussion that took place - it is recorded - with the OPA in another venue, where their experts - presumably they would say the same on the stand - would agree there is a concern that arises, in terms of reliance on US coal, because of these market mechanisms and the market rules as they stand.


MR. RUPERT:  Sorry, I don't follow.  You just a minute ago said that the OPA is prepared to give the condition, the wording that you liked.


MR. POCH:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  Now you are saying they're not?


MR. POCH:  No, no.  They have pointed to this as -- they have acknowledged this as a concern with the status quo rules.


Now they are about to go out and embark on a pilot for LSE which would somehow either work within those rules or would involve with it additional rules, either rules ‑‑ market rules, IESO rules, or rules that the OPA -- call it rules, call it what you will ‑‑ mechanisms that the OPA brings to play.  I mean, it is doing something here.  It is not simply saying, Oh, the market might do something.


It is proposing to go out, proactively do something to set up this ‑‑ some mechanism, some rules or some facilitation of this aspect of the market, to develop a part of the market that is not there right now.


We are saying they can do that in a way which either exacerbates this problem or mitigates this problem.


 MR. RUPERT:  But we are at a stage now where the OPA is in many ways at the beginning of a process to figure out when and what to do with this, so there's no details here at all of any LSE program on the way.  


So whether this language is in or out of the settlement agreement, does that in any way change any rights that you might have or any position you might take at a late date if the program that was developed by the OPA was something that you found objectionable?


MR. POCH:  No.  I would suggest that could I could come and complain to you next year saying they're going off spending their money, doing nasty things, but I think it is far more appropriate, where they are about to embark on a pilot, that they get off on the right foot.  


And given that this is a topic of discussion and a concern, I think it is entirely appropriate for the Board to enable the parties to head off that concern before the money is spent.


More than that, the Board is being asked to approve this money, so I think it is entirely appropriate to put conditions on the approval.


MR. RUPERT:  But you are obviously not satisfied with the conditions being to make sure you comply with the directives and make sure you comply with the legislation?


MR. POCH:  Given the range of debate about what that legislation means, we think it is healthy for there to be a little more clarity, and the OPA has been willing to give us that.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, might I just --

     MR. KAISER:  Wait a minute.  You have, Mr. Alexander, something further?


MR. ALEXANDER:  Nothing further.  


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Girvan.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. GIRVAN:

MS. GIRVAN:  Thanks.  I just wanted to wade in just to give you what our ‑‑ clarity around our position.


We signed on to number 1 because we were satisfied that the OPA intends to develop market mechanisms consistent with government directives.  What I am hearing now is we are not ‑‑ the reason why we didn't sign on to number 2 is we weren't clear whether that was going beyond compliance with the current directives.  That is why we have taken no position.  


I am hearing a little bit of a difference perhaps between what Mr. Poch is saying and what Mr. Cass is saying in terms of their understanding of what number 2 means.  So maybe Mr. Cass can help us with some clarity around that.


MR. KAISER:  Well, Mr. Cass, do you think you are agreeing to something in 2 that is over and above what you have agreed to in 1?


MR. CASS:  No, sir.  If I might just make a few comments, they won't be lengthy, but in the hope of bringing some clarity to the issue.


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:


MR. CASS:  The OPA does not believe that its LSE initiative will impact the physical phase-out of coal.  That causes the OPA to be able to agree to this numbered paragraph 2.  We have been hearing this morning some discussion about electricity generated from the United States at coal‑fired plants.  This wording does not talk about that at all, in my view.  


There is nothing in paragraph 2 that talks about United States coal‑fired generating plants.  Even assuming that someone could do that sort of tracking to establish that electricity consumed in Ontario could somehow be traced back to a United States coal‑fired electricity generating plant, this wording simply does not address that.


As was, I thought, stated quite clearly at the outset of comments about this settlement proposal, the intention of the wording in subparagraph ‑‑ in numbered paragraph 2 was to track the directive that I read to the Board from.  That directive is talking about the physical phase-out in Ontario.  I don't understand it to be talking about electricity generated from coal‑fired plants in the United States.


I hope that adds some clarity.


With respect to the broader issue that is now being under debate, given this wording that was presented as a means of achieving a settlement of issue 4, the OPA believed that it was consistent with its plans for 2007 and was able to agree to the wording on that basis.


As a result, the OPA simply took a practical view that it would agree to this wording in order to come as close as possible to a full settlement.


I must emphasize, though, that the ‑‑ in doing that, the OPA understood the wording to say what is on the page of this document and not a lot of the things that are being made in submissions to the Board this morning.


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, I am a bit alarmed, because I thought the wording was very -- the fact it talked about reliance on coal-fired generation as opposed to -- I thought it was fairly clear to everybody that that wording was agreed to precisely to capture coal‑fired generation from whatever source.  


If that wasn't clear to my friend, I am not going to try to play, you know, hardball lawyering and say he is bound to the deal he has made.


If the OPA is now taking the position that that wasn't their understanding of this agreement and wouldn't sign it if that is what it means, then it is not of any value to us, is it?


So I would say, then, we squarely have an issue before the Board, which is:  Should the OPA be able to go out, spend money on an LSE pilot that will or might increase reliance on US coal?  And our position is that is entirely inappropriate for this -- that entity and that we are entitled to oppose that project and the budget for it, unless they can assure us that they will design it in a fashion that doesn't bring that about.  


So I think we have a situation now where it is a little clearer, as a result of my friend's comments, about what the issue is before you.


MR. KAISER:  Well, Mr. Cass, let's assume that 2 does mean something more than 1, along the lines suggested by Mr. Poch.


Do you have a problem with it, if that's the rewording of it?


MR. CASS:  Yes.  That was not what the OPA intended to agree to.


Again, Mr. Chair, I thought I was quite clear in indicating this morning the OPA's understanding of the intention was that numbered paragraph 2 was to reflect what is in the Minister's directive of June 13th, 2006.  I believe I actually read from that directive, and I won't read all of the words again, but they start about -- they start with the words:  

"Plan for coal‑fired generation in Ontario to be replaced".


Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  I think we have your position.  Anyone else have anything to add on this?  All right.  We will take the morning break at this point.


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, I should just say that if the Board determines that it is appropriate to somehow resolve the question of whether or not to approve LSE spending, having regard to this concern, then we have the added question as to whether or not any evidence is needed.  


I would just suggest thatwe might be able, as counsel, to agree what the facts are, whether the LSE has the potential for this or not.  Then it would avoid the need for evidence.  


MR. KAISER:  One thing the two of you might do over the break is see if you can agree on wording for 2 that clearly reflects your understanding.  It is clear you have a different understanding of this.  So now we have ambiguous language, let's at least make sure we get your condition clear so that Mr. Cass understands it so he can object to it as opposed to agree to it because he misunderstood it.  


MR. POCH:  Right.  


MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Chair, if I may.  I must confess I am a little bit confused at this point because I am not seeing that there is a settlement on this issue, regardless of whether there is any agreement on the wording because the other parties in the room, in fact CCC and other and VECC haven't agreed to paragraph 2 regardless.  


What I thought was happening this morning was argument in lieu of argument at hearing.  Now what I am hearing is there may be evidence on this issue so we are going to be hearing anyway.  So I just want to sort of clear up, if we can, whether this issue is settleable, or not.  


If not, what the argument today was going toward or whether we are headed to hearing.  


MR. POCH:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  I wasn't clear a moment ago.  I was just going to suggest if we can agree there is no factual debate, that, yes, there is a potential for a LSE program depending how it is designed to increase reliance on US coal, then I would say:  You have heard the issue.  You have heard the argument.  The Board is in a position to decide whether or not it is a reasonable condition to impose.  


You wouldn't need any further proceedings on this, either evidentiary or argument.  That was just the one question I had that I am not sure if we have a stipulation as to the facts.  If we can provide you with that, then I think the Board is, it is ripe for decision.  


MR. KAISER:  Well, I think what we were trying to do this morning is find out the extent of the disagreement and we have now established the disagreement is even greater than we thought.  So if we can articulate that, then we will know what we are going to have a hearing about.  Come back -- 


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Poch.  Did I hear you say that there is no agreement or disagreement about that issue, but the issue does not need to go any further than what we heard today?  And it is just left to the Board to make a decision at some point before the, I guess the completion of this proceeding?  


MR. POCH:  Well, if -- I can't speak for my friends here, but if everyone agrees that a LSE pilot, depending how it is designed, could increase -- could cause reliance, contracts to be put in place that would oblige Ontario to consume power from the US coal generators, if that is acknowledged within the sweep of this, potentially, that is the only real fact, I think, that needs to be clarified.  


If that is clarified, then, yes, I would suggest, sir, you have really heard the issue.  You have heard the debate.  You have heard the argument.  And it is really -- the Board could decide now or in its final decision whether it approves the LSE spending with the condition we are seeking, or not. 


MR. KAISER:  Are you going to address, Mr. Poch, this point that it may not be possible to track where this power comes from?  You don't have to do it now, but...


MR. POCH:  That is something that would require evidence, if that is -- 


MR. KAISER:  I mean his point, I take it, we sort of crept into argument here is:  Even if we agreed to this condition, there would be no way of enforcing it.  I think that is it.  At what point is a condition that -- 


MR. POCH:  Well, at that point, they couldn't embark on a LSE proposal.  If they can't design it in a way that provides that assurance, then they would be in breach of their undertaking.  


MR. KAISER:  Well, but he's saying -- how are you going to know whether he is in breach of this undertaking is his point. 


MR. CASS:  Right, Mr. Chair.  It goes to the very acknowledgement Mr. Poch is now talking about.  I don't, for myself, see how the OPA could give the acknowledgement that he is saying would obviate the need for any evidence.  


MR. POCH:  Well, Mr. Chairman, it is apparent we have a factual question too, before you.  So we may not be able to avoid having to hear that if the Board accepts this as an issue. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  We will come back in 15 minutes.  


--- Recess taken at 10:58 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:23 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Poch, Mr. Cass, the Board has had an opportunity over the break to consider the arguments that we have heard this morning.  Mr. Stephenson advised us on his way out he would have nothing further to add.  We believe we are in a position to rule on this at the present time.

DECISION:

MR. KAISER:  The matter before us relates to the conditions that certain parties seek to attach to the proposed spending by the applicant on LSE pilots in 2007.  This falls under Strategic Objective No. 4, Sector Development Operations found at page 10 of 14 on the Settlement Agreement. 


The evidence with respect to that, as Mr. Cass points out, is at Exhibit B-4, Schedule 1, page 11, an expenditure of some $453,000.


There are two conditions.  In condition number 1, which all parties agree to, the condition is that those contracts should not conflict with specific government goals and directives, and that the OPA's market mechanisms, developments should not be inconsistent with the goals set out in the directives.  There has been reference this morning to those various directives.


Condition number 2 goes beyond that and is broader.  It says that these market mechanisms will be designed or constrained to avoid anything that would compromise the ability of the Province to achieve a phase-out of reliance on coal‑fired generation at the earliest practicable time.  


Mr. Poch has pointed out his particular concern with respect to coal‑fired generation in the United States.  That, he says, is not covered in Condition 1. 


Mr. Stephenson for the PWU has two arguments.  First, he says it is clear that the OPA should comply with directives.  And Mr. Cass has confirmed that the OPA's policy is to comply with governmental directives.  Accordingly, nothing is really added by the condition contained in condition number 1.  Nonetheless, all of the parties have agreed, so this is really not a matter of concern.


Then we come to the additional condition which is enumerated in condition number 2.  The Board is of the view that the Government has policies in this area -- and of course those are reflected in condition number 1.  We do not believe it would be appropriate for the Board, nor do we think the Board has jurisdiction, to set additional conditions such as those that are contemplated in condition number 2.


The Board believes that this is a matter best reserved for the government and not something that the Board has jurisdiction to deal with at this time.  Accordingly the Board's ruling is that it will not be necessary for us to hear evidence with respect to condition number 2.  We do not accept condition number 2 as it is stated in the settlement agreement.


FURTHER QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:
MR. KAISER:  Now, I think where we are at this point is to hear questions on issue number 1, Mr. Cass.  Is that acceptable?


MR. CASS:  Yes, it is, Mr. Chair.  I am not sure to what extent I can be helpful, because ‑- in terms of the scoping that is in the document, at least, because that describes issues that other parties intend to pursue.  So if the questions have to do with that scoping, it may be that other parties can help out the Board.


MR. KAISER:  Well, one of the questions I had, Mr. Cass -- I know the other Panel members have questions in this area, but just dealing with the first one, I just want to get your position.  As I understand it, the other parties or certain intervenors said that the OPA, in future applications, should provide the Board and the parties with a more detailed breakout of CDM programs, goals, costs and designs, TRC inputs, projections and results for each of its proposed and existing programs.


Do I understand that you are opposed to doing that?


MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Why is that?


MR. CASS:  I am just trying to think of the best way to sum up an argument that ultimately would occur at the hearing of this issue.


Mr. Chair, in summary, the concern is that essentially what is being asked for here is a sort of regulatory review that would be highly duplicative of the functions that the OPA itself performs.


The OPA certainly does have proposals regarding design of CDM programs, regarding EM&V around results of its programs, and so on.  The OPA well understands the role of the Board, in a revenue requirement case, of looking at the resources that the OPA has planned for to fulfil those programs, and the evaluation and monitoring and so on.  


The OPA understands that the Board and parties would want to ensure that there is either ‑‑ there is not too many resources or not too few resources.  However, it is the OPA's view that the sort of scrutiny that is anticipated in this particular part of the settlement document would end up in a process here before the Board that essentially puts the Board and all of the parties in the position of developing their own expertise to more or less second‑guess policy and detailed decisions about CDM programs in a way that would be highly duplicative of the expertise that the OPA itself has developed and is planning to develop in this area.


That is an attempt to summarize an argument that the OPA would intend to advance at the hearing, and it is perhaps a thumbnail sketch, but I hope that explains it for the Board.


MR. KAISER:  I wanted to deal with it almost in a jurisdictional sense.  I know we don't want to get into the details, but you agree our responsibility here is to determine whether these monies are being spent wisely and prudently.  Would you agree with that?


MR. CASS:  Certainly, Mr. Chair, in relation to the operating budget, yes.


MR. KAISER:  But not with respect to the CDM programs?


MR. CASS:  Well, that is the point precisely, Mr. Chair.  The actual spending under the government directives, I believe it's been accepted in the OPA's 2006 revenue requirement case, and generally in this case, that the spending under the directives is what it is, as provided for by the government, and that that is not a matter for review before the Board.


Mr. Lyle has been good enough to point me -- remind me of subsection 4 of section 25.20 of the statute, which says that:

"The OPA's recovery of its costs and payments related to procurement contracts shall be deemed to be approved by the Board." 


So, again, Mr. Chair, in our submission, it is really the operating costs.  If parties want to say you don't have enough resources or you should have more resources, those sorts of issues the OPA accepts are appropriate in the context of looking at the operating budget.


However, this sort of review of the programs itself, the OPA will certainly be advancing an argument at the hearing that this is not appropriate in the context of the revenue requirement submission.


MR. KAISER:  And that is regardless of the source of the funds?


MR. CASS:  I am not sure what you mean by "source", but my answer is, yes, with some uncertainty about what you mean as to the "source".


MR. KAISER:  Well, if you obtain funds directly from the government, for instance, as opposed to funds that were obtained through this revenue requirement, through fees, you don't distinguish between the source of the funds?


MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  The funds for the procurement carried out by the OPA come from the global adjustment, and those are not part of the filing.  Those are not, in the OPA's submission, part of what would be before the Board for approval in a revenue requirement case.


The funding for the procurement, whether it is generation, conservation or whatever, comes through the global adjustment mechanism.


MR. KAISER:  How much of this total fee requirement is earmarked for CDM?


MR. CASS:  It is something over $20 million, Mr. Chair.  We can get you the precise number.


MR. KAISER:  So $20 million on $57 million?


MR. CASS:  Yes, I believe it is over $20 million.  


MR. KAISER:  So your position is, 50 percent of the amount to play in this case is not subject to any Board review, any prudence review by the Board?  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, the amount is $28.5 million.  I'm sorry, I haven't explained myself very well.  


The 20.5 million is part of the operating budget.  Those are operating expenses, just like the rest of the budget of $57.4 million.  That happens to be the conservation element of the operating budget.  Those numbers are subject to review in this case.  


The question is, in reviewing the operating budget, to what extent does the Board's consideration of the reasonableness of the budget get into the policies and the details of the actual programs that are to be carried out in the 2007 year by the OPA?  


In our submission, the line to be drawn does not extend so far as to have the Board embark on the types of levels of scrutiny that are described under issue 1 in relation to the conservation matters.  So the 20.5 million is part of the operating budget.  Those are the operating expenses as opposed to the expenses of procurement under the directives.  


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Cass, I understand I think the distinction you’re making.  If I recall, it may not be in your evidence, it may be in other OPA documents, the OPA is proposing to spend on programs in CDM this year, in the order of 300 -- $350 million.  I think that is a number that was put out there by the organization.  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Rupert, it may be a little less than that in 2007.  I am told in 2008 it would be approximately $250 million.  However your underlying point is right, that that is a different number than the operating budget that is presented in this case, that's I believe $57.4 million.  


MR. RUPERT:  I take it from what you said earlier, that you probably would accept the fact that an assessment of your operating costs on CDM, whether it is enough, too much, requires some degree of understanding of the underlying programs that your staff, that the OPA staff is intending to design and carry out?  


MR. CASS:  Well, that is the difficult question, Mr. Rupert, and I think I would have to concede.  It is not clear where you draw the line in looking at the reasonableness of the expenses as opposed to the policies and details of the programs that, in a fashion, derive the expenses.  I would have to concede it is a grey area as to where one draws the line.  


Certainly in our submission, most if not all of these elements of issue number 1 are beyond the line where the Board should appropriately go in considering the reasonableness of the operating budget.  It really puts the Board in the position of becoming a second-guesser of the expertise that the OPA is developing in the conservation area and, in my submission, that is not what the statute had intended when it established the procedure for having the Board approve the revenue requirement.  


MR. RUPERT:  I hear what you are saying.  But I just want to be clear, though, that you would agree in order to assess the appropriateness of the 20-odd million dollars that is proposed to be spent this year on an operating costs, one would need to know more than the fact that the OPA intends to spend $250 million, whatever the number is, on programs this year.  You need to know more than that.  You need to know what the programs are, to with some extent.  You need to know something about what work is involved in designing and delivering the programs.  You need to have some idea of what the people are doing, you would agree with that. 


MR. CASS:  I agree with that, Mr. Rupert, from the point of view of deciding is the budget reasonable.  Not from the view of deciding, well, let's have all of the intervenors and the Board in the room and redesign those programs.  


MR. RUPERT:  All right.  


MR. KAISER:  What, in your view, would be the consequence to your application for approval of the $20 million if it was determined that one of those programs was a complete dud?  


MR. CASS:  You are talking about a determination that would be made now, Mr. Chair, in advance.


MR. KAISER:  Hypothetically, I mean your understanding of whatever regulatory regime we are working under here, you provide certain information.  Let's say there was enough information and the panel concluded the program was a complete dud and the funds were not well spent.  What would be the consequence?  Could we take that into account in approving your budget for the next year, do you think?  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I don't mean to quibble.  I am just having difficulty with the concept of a dud, first of all, speaking on a prospective basis because a program may not ultimately prove to fulfil its expectations but it may be valuable for that reason.  It may be valuable to learn in the design of the next program.  There may be a lot of value in a program even though it doesn't absolutely fulfil its expectation.  


So, if I could put the question in the context of the Board for some reason making a decision that a particular program just shouldn't go ahead, and first of all, I am having difficulty with that concept because again, it is saying, well, we have this body that has been set up as an expert body under the direction of the government to design programs.  Then having another body say, well, we're looking at your programs and we don't like one.  So I am struggling with the underlying concept. 


MR. KAISER:  It is not a question of Well, we don't like it, but go to Mr. Rupert's question, it is basically saying, well what is the point of even questioning your operating costs, the $20 million, if we don't have a basis for investigating whether that money in the past has been well spent?  


MR. CASS:  Again, Mr. Chair, there may be issues around the amount of resources needed to deliver on the government's directives and whether the level of resources is too high or too low.  That would be, at least in part, the point of the review in response to your question.  


Coming back to your other question, if the Board were to decide, looking ahead, that a particular program should just not occur -- without having the words of the statute in front of me, I think the statute speaks of the Board having the power to send the budget back to the OPA.  


MR. CASS:  I suppose that is what the Board would do, send the budget back and say well we have been unable to approve the entirety of the budget because we have concerns around a particular program.  


Again, I differentiate that from all of us coming into a room and debating the design of a program and deciding maybe a particular program can be redesigned and embarking on that sort of a debate.  I don't think that is what the statute intended.  


MR. KAISER:  But I am not sure how, at the high level, we would ever be in any position to make any judgment that would lead to sending anything back to doing anything other than accepting what you put forward, if we don't have an ability to examine the work product, as it were, you know, the efficiency and the prudence with which -- or the effectiveness, if you will, with which the programs have been implemented.  If we don't have any ability to do that, then we just have to accept the operating costs as you state them.  There is nothing for us to do, is there?  


When you said you could make a determination whether the resources were high or low?  On what basis would we make a determination if the resources were high or low if we couldn't get into some kind of analysis of the effectiveness of your spending?  


MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Chair, the programs are described in the evidence, so I think the evidence would allow the Board to satisfy itself as to whether the resources are too high or too low for the programs.  The OPA is proposing EM&V -- evaluation, monitoring and verification, as I said.  The OPA will be doing that.  


And the budget contains a breakdown by mass markets and by business markets as to how the OPA intends to proceed in 2007.  What I am saying to the Board is:  This is looking at programs prospectively.  When the programs have been running and we come in a future case and there are issues such as those that you are raising, then there will have to be some consideration give as to how to address them.


The concern here is to establish prospectively all of these very, very detailed things that are going to happen in some future case, when the OPA already has in place its proposal to do the EM&V and to have it in a very detailed fashion, in other words, to prejudge that for some future case the Board is going to need all of this information to judge the effectiveness of programs.


With the greatest of respect, sir, I don't think we know that yet.  I don't think we know at this time that the Board will need all of that.


MR. KAISER:  I accept that, but that is not what this sentence says.  What these people asked for and what you told me you are refusing to produce was this information for proposed and existing programs.  I took it that by your refusal there, there would be no analysis possible by the Board or anyone else of existing programs.


MR. CASS:  Again, Mr. Chair, the OPA, as I understand it, is proposing that every conservation program will have EM&V as an element of it, and it will be designed as part of the program, but that is part of program design.  Again, what the OPA is saying is, Let's come back to this in a later case.  Let's not decide now that the Board is going to be unsatisfied with the EM&V that is built into every program and set up this whole structure of regulatory scrutiny that is going to be layered on top of that EM&V that the OPA will be doing anyway.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, tell me this.  This EM&V, whatever that means, would that provide the required or requested information with respect to existing programs?  I am not talking about proposed programs.  I am talking about existing programs.


MR. CASS:  I am not sure what you mean.  Will it provide exactly what is in numbered paragraph 1?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  What is the difference between what you are agreeing to provide, in terms of analysis of past dollars, existing programs, and what these people want with respect to existing programs?  Are they asking for more than you are prepared to give them on existing programs?


MR. CASS:  I think that would be the case, Mr. Chair, yes.


Again, the evaluation, monitoring and verification is what EM&V is, and it will be designed into each program.


So it is not, in my understanding, intended to be established in this hard and fast fashion as described in paragraph 1, that this sort of reporting would occur on every single program.  It will be designed into the programs, depending on the parameters of each program.


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, if I could be of some assistance. The EM&V my friend speaks of is, of course, after the fact, and perhaps three years from now we will get a report about how a program did.


What those of us who are pursuing this scoped issue are asking for is some information so that we know that the OPA is -‑ has in place the management and administrative systems to accommodate the CDM program.  


I am reading right from the issues list here, Mr. Chairman, issue 1.2, A and B:

"... and the OPA has used appropriate methods and techniques in the design of its 2007 CDM programs." 


Those are issues my friends agreed to.  I don't know how you could possibly test that.  All we are asking, and I think the comment applies to all four of the issues under category 1, we are simply saying, Let's have a little bit of transparency, a little bit of accountability.  


We are not asking the Board -- if you read all of these in each case, we are not asking the Board to descend into program design, questioning program design at the outset.  We are saying we want to have a bit of information to understand what the OPA is doing and that it is going about it in some business‑like fashion; in this case, that they are screening programs up front.  


If you read the transcript of the Technical Conference, you will see there is some discussion of the fact that OPA is proposing that its portfolio not ‑‑ only average to be TSC positive, that they won't preclude going ahead with projects, programs that they are projecting will fail TRC.  


So that is the kind of discussion that we think is appropriate at this level.  I'm agreeing with my friends, and we are not seeking for the Board to delve into, you know, program-by-program dissection in advance or after the fact, for that matter, but, rather, that they haven't gone way off track here.  


I think the ‑‑ we can get to number 4 later.  There is another element there.


MR. KAISER:  Just one point of clarification.  In this first sentence, and I take it it is you and your clients 

and ‑‑


MR. POCH:  This is -- I think I speak for a lot of parties.  A lot of parties have sponsored this, Mr. Chairman, in fairness.


MR. KAISER:  My point is that you seem to be asking for the same detail, the same information for proposed programs as you were for existing programs.  I was wondering whether there is a difference that in proposed programs, that really gets into program design and so on.  Mr. Cass would say, Well, they're the experts.  


I am wondering whether you -- in your mind there is a difference between the data that parties and the Board would be entitled to for existing programs as opposed to proposed programs?


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, there is obviously a distinction, but I would suggest it is the proper business of this Board to satisfy itself that the OPA has methodologies, administrative structures, tests, screening mechanisms, what have you, in place to be able to assure the Board that its various undertakings, there is some hope that they're going to be managed well and in a cost-effective fashion.  


I think you gain insight into that both by looking at how they have done to date - and there isn't presumably a lot to look at there at this point - but also by looking at what it is they are proposing, what the screening results and so on and the goals of what they are proposing are.  


If that information, when filed, demonstrates they're proposing to go off and do something which is, on their own tests, a dud, to use your words, then it would be appropriate for the Board to scratch their head next year and say, Why are we approving an administrative budget that you are not using to analyze the way ‑‑ you are obviously not analyzing things properly.  


That is the level of discussion we are seeking.  We recognize we have a problem right now.  We have learned in the Technical Conference they don't have a lot of this information right now.  Our proposed scoping here is a recognition that that is a fact we have to live with, and so we are looking at second best and saying, Well, at least let's provide the Board and the public with that information as it becomes available, so that whatever benefit we get from that transparency can happen.  


And the Board, in subsequent processes, can look at that and the Board can take some comfort, presumably, if there is transparency, that if they're off on a frolic, the public will have other remedies available to complain to the Minister or what have you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Poch, just to I guess maybe recap.  At the risk of being wrong on this one, the indices:  You are looking at whether certain functions would exist within the operations of OPA, design, monitoring, evaluation.  That is what underpins the budget; right?


Am I right so far, that you would be quite happy to stop there, as opposed to all of the specifics?  I have read too many specifics on paragraph 1 that sort of makes me question as to, What are we getting into, which gets to the concerns of Mr. Cass.  Is this another body here to second guess the operations of the OPA in the --


MR. POCH:  I think the Board's task is a little broader than simply assuring itself that the OPA has put in place mechanisms to screen and monitor and report.  I think the Board needs to satisfy itself that those mechanisms are going to work, and you have to test that a little.


I heartily agree with the underlying concern you are expressing and that my friend has expressed, that you don't want to be put in a position of having to parse each and every program and input and have a debate about whether the free rider number is appropriate or not.  We have done that in other cases and it can be a fairly time‑consuming task.


But, I think you have to, at some level, be in a position where, if ‑‑ to test that OPA is doing that.  I don't know how you test that, unless you have some of the information before you, at least at a high level.  


I don't know if that answers your question, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  Mr. Cass, I think you are ready to respond to that, were you?


MR. CASS:  Well, I just wanted to make one point.  Mr. Lyle was good enough to mention to me that I was really, in responding to a number of the questions, more or less missing the underlying point.


We appreciate that the Board has these questions that I was struggling to answer, for example, Mr. Chair, your question about the difference between proposed and existing programs.  The OPA is not in any fashion suggesting there would not be witnesses on these items.  These items would go to hearing.  The witnesses would be there, could answer the Board's questions, much better than I can do, as to what the concerns are, and then we can argue it at the end of that.


I think I really was getting quite ahead of myself trying to answer your questions here and trying to argue it before you actually hear from the witnesses and hear what the concerns are from them.  That is what I wanted to say.  I apologize for not pointing that out sooner.  


MR. VLAHOS:  That means in future applications -- 


MR. CASS:  No.  In this case.  These four items will go to hearing.  The OPA is not objecting to these items going to hearing.  They will go to hearing. 


MR. VLAHOS:  That is where I am really mixed up now.  Remember I asked you on the, I think issue number 4 as to:  What do those things represent here.  Does the OPA agree or disagree with those things?  When we discussed issue 4, you have disagreed.  


In this case you disagree, or agree?  


MR. CASS:  We disagree -- the OPA disagrees with the appropriateness of the Board looking at these types of items under issue 1 at the hearing.  


However, we understand that the Board will have questions about that, just like there were questions of me this morning.  So the OPA will have witnesses on these matters at the hearing.  When the questions have been asked and answered, at the end of that I will be attempting, as best I can, to make the same argument I was attempting to make this morning, that it is not appropriate to get into any or all of these but the Board will at least have had the witnesses there to give the answers to the questions about what are the concerns, for example, as between proposed and existing programs.  


MR. VLAHOS:  So if you don't object to present panels, expert witnesses or panels on those matters, why are we discussing them here?  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Vlahos, it is the commitment.  The commitment is, for example, in item number 1:  To provide a more detailed breakout of CDM program goals, costs and designs including goals, costs, designs, TRC inputs and projections and results for every proposed and existing program.  


MR. VLAHOS:  This is in future applications. 


MR. CASS:  That's correct.  As Mr. Poch has said, the OPA doesn't even have that detail at this point in time.  The witnesses will be addressing or would be able to address your questions about why that is a concern to provide in a future case.  As is indicated in here, to provide -- actually, I don't think it says necessarily these things are all by future case even, for example, the end of this paragraph is a report by September 1st, 2007.  


So the witnesses would be able to respond to the Board's questions about what the concerns are providing this information, and at the end of that, the OPA will make its argument about the appropriateness of the Board requiring these items.  


MR. KAISER:  The way I read this was that the parties were prepared to settle on this issue, if you would give them these conditions.  If you would concept to these conditions and you have refused.  


MR. CASS:  I think, at least some if not all of the other parties or some who indicated that they didn’t participate in the issue but the proponents of these items, why he, if you give them what they asked for, then, yes, that is what they've asked for.  


MR. RUPERT:  Can I ask you -- I am confused on this as well.  If these four points dropped away -- let me ask it a different way.  Underneath point 4 there's a sentence that says:  All other aspects of issue 1 have been resolved.  


I am trying to figure out which aspects of issue 1 have actually been resolved.  Can you point to which issues have been resolved?  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Rupert, I suppose I could take any particular issue.  So subject to a determination of the four enumerated items on page 7, one could take any of the issues on page 6:  Has the OPA used appropriate method and techniques in the design of its 2007 CDM program?  That is 1.2(b).
Subject to the Board's consideration of what you have heard this morning about items 1 to 4 on page 7, that particular issue has been settled.  There is no other issue around it.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Settled, per what?  There is confusion here, Mr. Cass.  Settled per what, per company's proposals?  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rupert, I don't think I am any further ahead as to the purpose of this whole page, page 7.  


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Vlahos, perhaps I can assist.  I think really what you have before you is simply a statement from a number of intervenors saying:  We haven't settled issue 1, but Board, in scheduling this matter and in understanding what you are going to hear in a hearing, these are our outstanding objectives.  This is what you are going to hear, at least some of us argue for more or less, at the end of the day.  We are not seeking a wide-ranging hearing on every factual issue that could arise under issue 1.  


We are -- in an effort to help move this along, we are telegraphing to you what it is we are after that would satisfy us.  We are telegraphing to my friends what it is they need to prepare their witnesses for in the hope that that just scopes down the hearing. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Poch, I think in the intent to be helpful, you have been -- at least you have confused me. 


MR. POCH:  Sorry. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Because it could very well read there is no agreement on issue 1.  Then to surprise the parties, if you like, through some other sort of avenue, channel that:  Here are the issues.  In the scheduling of witness panels here the issues will be addressed that will be addressed at the hearing.  That would suffice, Mr. Cass.  I find that pretty confusing. 


MR. CASS:  I have to take the responsibility for that, Mr. Vlahos.  I think the structuring of this originated with me. 


The desire was to avoid saying:  No settlement, and then having the Board think there is more in issue than this, because it would say "no settlement."  So instead of doing that it was framed as it was to scope out what the issues are, to try to help the Board.  Then to indicate that everything else has been resolved.  


It was to attempt to help the Board by scoping it out but I must take the responsibility for the confusion you are having with the framing of it. 


MR. VLAHOS:  I understand now.  So the OPA does not object to those four paragraphs coming into the hearing in this case?  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Those will be going into the hearing.  The OPA will be questioning the appropriateness of the Board doing these things, but with the witnesses taking the stand so that they can be examined and can be conducted in the normal fashion of a hearing, and then the arguments about the appropriateness of this can follow.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Finally, is there any party here that objects to those matters coming forward to this hearing?  


MR. CASS:  No.


MS. GIRVAN:  Mr. Vlahos, I would just interject.  Just to be clear, I think there is some difference amongst various intervenors about how important these particular issues are.  


So for example my client would say:  We would like -- we are not objecting to these issues going to hearing, but we are interested in number 1.  We are less interested in number 2, 3 and 4. 


MR. VLAHOS:  This is also with the intent to be helpful, and I guess maybe I am overcritical.  It hasn't helped me.  It not helpful.  Now I understand what the scope of this is, what the purpose of this is, and I think it is a lot of academic discussion, other than simply what the Board should be looking forward to in the hearing as we progress and that is the extent of that page, or that write-up on issue 1; is that fair?  


MR. CASS:  I think so, Mr. Vlahos. 


MR. VLAHOS:  So there is no decision to be made, by this panel, on this?  On this issue number 1?  Other than simply accept the agreement -– as part of accepting the agreement, it accepts some of those things may be coming to the hearing?  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  The decision that would be made, Mr. Vlahos in accepting the settlement proposal, would be that everything else within issue 1, except for these four things is settled in accordance with the company’s proposal and that the Board is content with that.  That would be the decision in relation to issue 1.  


MR. KAISER:  Would that mean, for instance, the budget had been accepted.  It is the sort of additional requests for further information that are outstanding?  


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, yes.  


MR. KAISER:  Can I ask you a question.  This, as I understood it, is what you couldn’t agree on.  They wanted these four things.  You said no and we're going to go through the process. 


Were there any information requests that you did agree to?  


MR. CASS:  I'm sorry, sir.  


MR. KAISER:  As I read this -- 


MR. CASS:  There's a stage of information in a settlement conference, but I can't really get into that.  


MR. POCH:  There were undertakings. 


MR. KAISER:  Well, if they were undertakings of information that you will provide, that is a matter of public record, isn’t it?  


MS. GIRVAN:  On other issues, as well, I think issue number 6 there were a number of commitments OPA made to file materials. 


MR. KAISER:  I meant on the CDM issue, these are -- as I understand what has happened here, they have agreed to the budget.  They have agreed to this.  But they say we want this further information going forward, basically.  I just wondered if there were any of these information requests you did agree to.  Or did you refuse all of the information requests?  


MR. CASS:  I think hope this is responsive, Mr. Chair.  There was a technical conference.  There were questions on a number of subjects.  There were answers.  Undertakings were given and there were answers to the undertakings.  


I think it would be fair to say that what is here is really where the intervenors, or some of them, are not satisfied with the information they have had to date.


MR. RUPERT:  A question for Mr. Cass and Mr. Poch.  We have talked about number 1 on this page and I think I understand that one, in the sense that Mr. Poch seems to be saying this type of information is necessary for your client and others to make a reasoned judgment about the operating budget.  That is what I kind of heard you say.


Mr. Cass, you have disagreed with that.  But I can understand the connection between number 1 and the operating budget that is the subject of this case.


It is not as clear to me, reading 2, 3 and 4, that I can see the connection there.  Can you help me out with how those are connected to the operating budget?


MR. POCH:  Mr. Rupert, I assume I should proceed.  At least I can speak to number 2 and 4, and I think Mr. Alexander can probably speak to number 3.  


Number 2, you will note the wording there.  We are not asking the Board to order the OPA to go off and do any particular program, but what we are seeking is an assurance that they are going out and doing what we consider to be the fundamental, basic analysis that you would want to do at the front end before you go off and spend money.


This is to -- in furtherance of the issues I enumerated to you earlier that are on the issues list.  We are saying, Satisfy us, satisfy the Board this time, or when you come back or in a reporting date in between, that you have gone off and looked at what the lost opportunity markets are, obviously, important markets.  Any good analysis, that is a step that the Board should ensure the OPA is doing so that there is a proper foundation for its prioritization and spending, and that is all we are asking for.  


We are not asking for you to order any particular program.


In number 4, well, you will hear -- assuming this goes to hearing, you will hear evidence that the OPA is, indeed, having some discussions in regard to end-use fuel switching with gas utilities and others.  I provided my friends earlier in the week, and I provided the Board - it should be before you - with two documents, not to prove their contents today, but just simply to illustrate why this issue is before you.


These documents, a SeeLine study and a submission from Enbridge that was made to the Power Authority in 2005, set out the fact that in Enbridge's view, just in Enbridge's franchise area, there is -- I assume this is in Enbridge's franchise area, don't take my word on that -- there is, for example, $125 million worth of TRC positive fuel switching opportunities just in 2007.  That is from this SeeLine study.  Nothing turns on the numbers.


MR. RUPERT:  I don't want to get into the details of fuel switching, but I just want to understand.  If the OPA agreed to do what you have requested, and coming back again to our operating budget, are you saying, therefore, this would lead to no change in the overall funds that the OPA is allocated to this, but a redeployment to people to a different purpose; is that what you're saying?


MR. POCH:  Yes, sir.  If OPA could commit to these, call them conditions, we would be content that the budget, as proposed by the OPA, is reasonable, and within the discretion that they've retained for themselves within the budget, they could manage all of the tasks, including these.


MR. RUPERT:  Just to go a little bit further, if this was not done, is it your position, then, that the budget should be reduced?  Is that ‑‑ do I take it that that is the next extension of what you are saying?


MR. POCH:  Well, I don't know that I can speak for everybody in that regard, sir.


I think there is -- there certainly would be some that would say, if the OPA can't at least be transparent and assure the Board that it is doing a decent up-front analysis, then, yes, I think that does raise a question as to whether or not the budget is appropriate, and I wouldn't want to suggest otherwise.


I think the ‑‑ the biggest swing that would come from any of these, as a result of any of these, I think it is fair to say I don't think that many of them would have great material impact on the budget.  I think, for example, the fuel switching item could have a quite material impact on how much money the OPA is spending under the directive calling for appliance changeouts, but that is not coming out of this pot of money.  That is the other pot of money.  


So I don't want to suggest that this would have any dramatic -- necessarily any dramatic impact on their request for $57 million, but it could have some effect, sure.


MR. RUPERT:  You understand what I am asking, given what someone has already referred today as the paragraph in Procedural Order No. 1, that that creates a distinction between the program costs and the operating costs.


I just need to understand, for any of these items, what the connection to the operating costs is.  I can understand the connection to the program costs, but to the extent that doing or not doing items 2, 3 and 4 has no effect on the operating costs, I guess I'm kind of wondering what the relevance is.


MR. POCH:  What we are saying is if the OPA can't assure the Board that it is doing these steps which we think are basic, analytical steps, basic prioritization steps, getting on with things they have already said they are doing and others have ‑‑ are waiting on, then, yes, I think you do have to question whether or not the budget is reasonable.


How much of an impact there is on that budget, I couldn't say today.


MR. RUPERT:  If this proceeds forward, then, are you saying that when you come forward -- whenever we have a hearing, that you will come forward and say this is why you think these should be done, and, if they're not done, this is the dollar impact on the budget for 2007?


MR. POCH:  I can't say that we would be able to put a dollar impact.  We will obviously have to provide the Board with some indication as to what should flow.


Our position will be that the Board should require these things as a condition of approving the budget, and our hope is we will succeed in that regard.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.


MR. POCH:  I should mention, sir, just with respect to number 4, we think it is very timely that the Board look into this matter in this proceeding, because on the gas ‑‑ it is obvious that the counterparties to this is going to include the gas utilities, which the Board regulates.  


We have provided you with some sort of some prima facie evidence that there is big programs at stake.  There is a big question, policy question, for the Board, I think, as to how these programs get funded.  Do they come out of the gas pot, do they come out of the electricity pot, and how the OPA's wrestling with that and wrestling with its ‑‑ and whether they are getting on with it or not, and how this all fits into an impending three- or five‑year incentive regulation scheme for the gas side.


So we are anxious to bring this back to a head, that the Board -- for the Board to be able to put itself in a position to know that this is proceeding.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Cass, can I just get back to you on our earlier exchange?


Just to clarify the position or the role of the OPA in the future of this proceeding, are you suggesting that all 1, 2 and 3 -- all paragraphs 1 to 4, that they are in scope or they are not in scope of this proceeding?


MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Vlahos, truthfully, I hadn't directed my mind to it for today.  I hadn't expected that we would come today arguing about issues that are going to hearing.  That is why each time I have said "any or all".


Certainly some of it.  Whether it is every single item, I haven't even directed my mind to it yet and I haven't discussed it with the OPA.


I think it is a certainty that at least some of issue 1, the OPA will be taking a position at the end of the hearing that it is not appropriate to make that sort of direction, but sitting here today, I can't say that it is everything under issue 1.


MR. KAISER:  Could you take that position at the beginning of a hearing?  I mean, if it turns out that something is out of scope, then we don't need to hear it.


MR. CASS:  We could do that, Mr. Chair.  Again, it was our view that the Board might want to have the witnesses, so we didn't want to set up a situation where we were making the argument at the beginning of the hearing and that the Board felt it was being precluded from even hearing the witnesses.


MR. KAISER:  I see.


MR. VLAHOS:  Is your expectation that this Panel will have to determine whether those four or any of the four are in scope or out of scope for this proceeding?


MR. CASS:  No, not today, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  Not today.


MR. CASS:  But, ultimately, in argument at the conclusion of the hearing, that would be something that would be addressed and be left with this Panel to decide.


MR. VLAHOS:  And no other party there expects that this Panel will make a determination as a result of today's hearing whether those issues are in scope or not in scope?  


MR. CASS:  Not to my knowledge, sir, no.  


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman -- we are content -- it sounds like my friend is saying to you is:  He's content these matters go to hearing; he reserves his right at the end of the day to argue that some aspect of what we are asking for or the enquiry we are asking you to undertake is beyond your jurisdiction.  I guess I don't object to him making that reservation and I don't insist that he bring his, bring it up front in the motion.  If the Board is content that it is not going to be wasting its time.  


MR. KAISER:  One of the things that is -- and Mr. Rupert has really touched on this but this is turning out to be a very strange regulatory process, because usually in a fees case, a rate case you look at expenses and you determine whether they are prudent and you allow them or don't allow them.  


There is no questioning of any particular expenses here.  It's just saying I will go away if you agree to these conditions.  So to go back to Mr. Rupert's question, if he says:  What we are supposed to do is determine whether the operating budget is reasonable and allow it.  You almost get the impression that it wouldn't matter which way we go with one of these four, it's not going to affect the operating budget.  I you allow them, you say they can find the money there somewhere else.  Just move some money around.  It's there.  If you disallow them, it will mean they don't have to do these things which aren't in the budget any way, so that's not going to affect the operating budget.  I am not sure where I am going with this, but this is turning out to be a very strange rate case when we are not debating any particular expense item.  Or anything that is going to have any effect on the expense, upwards or downwards, unless you can draw the link that Mr. Rupert was requesting you to.  


MR. POCH:  I can't at this time.  I think we will hear from my friend's witnesses. 


MR. KAISER:  But you will?  


MR. POCH:  Presumably they will be in a position when they take the stand to tell us why they think they don't have to do some of these things and why it costs so much. 


MR. KAISER:  That is a different question, Mr. Poch.  That is not the question in the rate case.  The rate case is why we shouldn't allow this item, that item, right.  I mean, it is a financial issue.  There is no financial issue flowing from these issues. 


MR. POCH:  There is, sir, but we can't put a number on it right now until the witnesses take the stand and tell us what this is -- what this is costing to comply with or what have you.  Then at the end of the day we will be in a position to argue before you that some portion of their budget is excessive or that they should perhaps have additional budget if they satisfy you that to do this it would cost a certain amount of money. 


MR. KAISER:  You're saying they should be doing this or not doing this.  It's going to cost that.  It should be in there.  Something else or should be out.  Or the budget should be increased.  You might even be arguing for an increased budget. 


MR. POCH:  We might, sir.  


MR. KAISER:  Anything else, Mr. Cass?  


MR. CASS:  No, sir.  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Poch?  


MR. POCH:  No, sir.  


MR. KAISER:  Anyone else?  Ms. Sebalj.  


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. SEBALJ:


MS. SEBALJ:  I just had a couple of very high-level clarifying questions.  One went to -- Mr. Vlahos earlier mentioned, Mr. Cass, that there was some language that would have been beneficial to clarify what was settled.  


I don't know whether we sort of concluded on whether a new draft of the settlement proposal would be forwarded, or whether the record in this proceeding is enough.  I just wanted to clarify that.  


MR. KAISER:  I think we may have ruled on this while you were out.  


MS. SEBALJ:  Fair enough.  My apologies.  


MR. KAISER:  Are you talking about condition number 2?  


MS. SEBALJ:  Issue number 2.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Issue number 4, condition number 2.  Is that what you are referring to?  


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  I thought that you wanted some sort of general language about the -- 


MR. KAISER:  We decided -- 


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay, my apologies.  The second part for me is if we were going to do a redraft, this notion of complete settlement and incomplete settlement, this is a very technical issue but the issue will not be addressed at the hearing.  I guess it should have been subject to Board approval will not be heard at the hearing.  


The only other issue, and I guess this is for future reference if we are not filing another draft, is that in the -- sorry, this is page 5 of 14.  In the second-to-last paragraph, it indicates that the rules and the settlement guidelines: 

"In accordance with the rules and settlement guidelines Board Staff takes no position on any issue."  

I am certain that the Rules and settlement guidelines do not indicate that Board Staff takes no position on any issue, but they do say we are not a party to the settlement proposal.
So I just wanted to correct those issues for the record, to make sure that the draft reflects that.  


MR. KAISER:  Have we settled on a date for the hearing, or is that yet to come?  


MR. RICHMOND:  It is yet to come, Mr. Chair.  We have talked about possible dates, but we haven't firmed anything up.  


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chair, I think speaking for a number of us we are assuming the panel is not available until the Enbridge case concludes.  


MR. KAISER:  We will check on that.  Any idea, gentlemen and ladies, how long we will need for this?  How many days do you estimate, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  I don't estimate a lot of time, Mr. Chair.  I only hesitate because largely the hearings tend to be driven by the amount of questions that come to the witness from other parties.  But speaking only for myself, I would think it could be done in a day.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Poch, what do you think?  


MR. POCH:  I would think two days would probably be adequate.  


MR. KAISER:  Am I right that as this matter has now evolved, you are going to call witnesses that will - and I am using the vernacular - essentially support your position for refusing to provide the information requested in those four items?  Basically that is what it comes down to?  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  


MR. KAISER:  Will you have witnesses on the other side, Mr. Poch?  Or you and your colleagues?  


MR. POCH:  I would think not.  I think we can elicit what we need through the OPA witnesses. 


MR. KAISER:  Will we have some kind of prefiled material regarding those witnesses, some kind of witness statement or something?  What is contemplated here?  


MR. CASS:  We could endeavour to do that, Mr. Chair.  I hadn't thought about it before this very moment.


MR. KAISER:  It might help counsel prepare and maybe we can get through this in one day.  It doesn't have to be elaborate, just an outline as to what their evidence will be.  


MR. CASS:  Yes, sir.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Alexander, you don't intend to file anything?  


MR. ALEXANDER:  We don't intend to file.  We would expect about a day or two with cross-examination.  


MR. KAISER:  Anything else, Ms. Sebalj?  


MS. SEBALJ:  No.  Nothing.  


[Board Panel confers]


MR. KAISER:  We are assuming, Mr. Cass, Mr. Poch, we will reserve our decision on this until we have heard all of the evidence.  Is that acceptable?  


MR. CASS:  It is acceptable, Mr. Chair.  


MR. KAISER:  In other words, there are certain matters that are settled and we could give you a decision, I guess, with respect to that, but we would just as soon deal with the entire agreement at one time.  Is that all right? 


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I was just going to mention the settled issues.  The only thing would be to have some measure of certainty we don't need to have witnesses on the settled issues.  That would be my only concern. 


MR. KAISER:  I guess that is what we were driving at.  The short answer is you do need a decision today so that you know what the outstanding issues are from the Board's perspective, i.e., whether the Board accepts a settlement on those matters that have been settled?  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Not that it necessarily has to be today, but, yes, Mr. Chair.  


MR. KAISER:  I think we can communicate with you in the next few days, if that is sufficient.  I don't think we are going to go to hearing on this matter next week.  We still have lots of time. 


We may issue some form of decision.  It may even be, in part, a procedural order that will deal with the conduct of the hearing as well.  


Thank you.  


--- Whereupon hearing adjourns at 12:25 p.m.
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